
 

                         

 

 

 

 

                             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEETING 

 

NOVEMBER 14, 2023 

 

AGENDA PACKET 

 

1



 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
 

 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEETING 

TUESDAY– NOVEMBER 14, 2023, 6:00 P.M. 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 

AGENDA 
 

 

Board Members: 

Chairman Robert Schaefer       

Member Xochitl Ross     

Member Charles Cain  

Member Pete Peterson 

Member James D. Simmons 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 

Town Attorney Clifford Repperger 

Town Planner Corey O’Gorman 

 

Notice: Commission discussion and possible action may occur during any Commissioner Meeting. The 
following sections of the Agenda are always subject to such discussion and possible action without further 
motion by the Commission: Changes to the Agenda, Public Hearings, Old Business, and New Business. 

The public is advised that members of the Town Commission may be in attendance and participate in 
proceedings of the board. Attorney General Opinions (AGO) AGO 91-95, AGO 98-14, AGO 2000-68. 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 286.0105, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE PUBLIC 
THAT: In order to appeal any decision made at this meeting, you will need a verbatim transcript of the 
proceedings. It will be your responsibility to ensure such a record is made. Such person must provide a method 
for recording the proceedings verbatim as the Town does not do so. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disability Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing 
special accommodations for this meeting shall, at least 5 days prior to the meeting, contact the Office of the 
Town Clerk at (321) 724-5860 or Florida Relay System at 711. 

 

 

2



 

 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. ROLL CALL 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 

A. February 16, 2023 Minutes 
  
  

  IV. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

   A.  Special Exception Application PSE23-0002, 315 Ocean Avenue 

V. NEW BUSINESS 

VI. OLD BUSINESS  

   VII. ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

3



Town of Melbourne Beach 
 

 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEETING 

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 16, 2023 

COMMUNITY CENTER, 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 

MINUTES 
 

 

Board Members: 

Chairman Robert Schaefer 

Vice Chair Xochitl Ross     

Member Charles Cain  

Member James D. Simmons 

Member Peter Peterson 

 

Staff Members: 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Town Clerk Amber Brown 

Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Town Attorney Clifford Repperger 

Town Planner Corey O’Gorman 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4



 

I. Call to Order  
  Chairman Robert Schaefer called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 

II. Roll Call  
  Town Clerk Amber Brown led the roll call. 
 
  Members Present:    Staff Present: 
  Chairman Robert Schaefer   Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 

Vice Chairperson Xochitl Ross  Town Attorney Clifford Repperger 
  Member Charles Cain    Building Official Robert Bitgood 
  Member James D. Simmons   Town Clerk Amber Brown 
  Member Peter Peterson   
   

III. Approval of Minutes  
Member Peter Peterson spoke about a correction to the minutes on page 
three where it says “Motion carried 4-1 with Member Cain in dissent.”  It 
should say Member Peterson in dissent. 
 
Vice Chair Xochitl Ross spoke about a correction to the minutes on page 
three where she spoke about the type of structure for a pool.  In today’s 
packet, section 5A-1 says it is a major structure so that should be reflected 
in that section of the minutes. 
 

Member James Simmons moved to approve the draft minutes as revised; 
Member Cain seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 
 

IV. Public Hearing 
A. Coastal Construction Variance Application #2023-01-V, 401 Atlantic 

Street 
 

Chairman Robert Schaefer read the staff report and swore in Clayton 
Bennett from Bennett Engineering & Consulting. 
 
Member Peter Peterson spoke about making sure everyone 
understands the difference between beach accretion and beach fill.  

 

Member James Simmons moved to approve the variance application 2023-
01-V for 401 Atlantic St; Member Charles Cain seconded; Motion carried 5-0 
 

V. New Business 
A. Discussion on meeting procedure regarding what gets read into the 

record 
 

Chairman Robert Schaefer spoke about reading the information into 
the record to make it easier to have it on the recording and allow others 

5



to ask additional questions and give the applicant a chance to ask 
questions or answer questions. 
 
Vice Chair Xochitl Ross spoke about it guiding the discussion. 
 
Member James Simmons asked if someone feels they cannot meet the 
tree ordinance and the building official says they have to meet the tree 
ordinance and they disagree would that come to the Board of 
Adjustments as a variance? 
 
Further discussion ensued 
 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about an appeal of a denial 
from the Building Official would come to the Board of Adjustment. 
 
Town Attorney Clifford Repperger spoke about the Board needing to 
appoint the chairperson on a yearly bases. 
 

Member James Simmons nominated Robert Schaefer as the chairperson; 
Member Peter Peterson seconded; Motion carried 5-0 

 
VI. Adjournment 

 
Member Xochitl Ross moved to adjourn; Member James Simmons 
seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 

 

 The meeting adjourned at 6:29 p.m. 
 
 

        ATTEST: 
 
______________________          _____________________        
Robert Schaefer, Chairman          Amber Brown, Town Clerk  
 

 

 

 

 

6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



 pg. 1                             Town of Melbourne Beach –Board of Adjustment Special Exception 315 Ocean Avenue 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PETITION DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Andrew Hahn 
 
OWNER: VUKE LLC 
 
ADDRESS: 315 Ocean Avenue 

 

ZONING 

DISTRICT: 6-B Downtown Business District 
 
REQUEST: The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to reestablish a restaurant use at the 

subject location.   
 

2. BACKGROUND 
In August 2006 the Town of Melbourne Beach Board of Adjustment approved a Special Exception for 
a restaurant use to be located at 315 Ocean Avenue with conditions, including that the approval would 
be effective until the regularly scheduled meeting of the Board of Adjustment in August 2007 when 
the applicant could request renewal, and that renewal would be based on compliance with the 
conditions of approval.  The Board of Adjustment approved a renewal with conditions including that 
the special exception and conditions would stand for the life of the establishment with no need for 
annual renewal.  The original establishment has ceased operations and as such the special exception 
approval has expired.  The Final Order for these actions is provided in Exhibit “A”. 
 
The applicant, Andrew Hahn, submitted an application for special exception under the provisions of 
Town Code Section 7A-36(d)(4) including the application form, property survey, building floor plan, 
photographs of the existing conditions and a narrative which are attached as Exhibit “B”. 
 
As described in the project narrative, the subject proposal is to establish a state-of-the-art coffee 
shop/café concept serving specialty coffees, breakfast, smoothies and lunch.  The concept proposes 
minimal construction including the addition of new AC system, drop ceiling, commercial ventilation 
hood, and commercial sink.  There are no proposed changes to the site or exterior of the building.  
See the narrative and photographs provided by the applicant in Exhibit “B”. 
 
Section 7A-36. 6-B Downtown Business District allows restaurants as a Special Exception subject to 
applicable zoning and development requirements.  In addition, Section 7A-152. Powers and Duties of 
the Board of Adjustment paragraphs (c)(1) states that the Board of Adjustment “shall have the 
authority to hear and decide only such special exceptions” authorized by the Land Development Code 
and outlines process, submittal requirements, review criteria (including required consistency with the 
Comprehensive Plan), prohibited activities, site plan requirements, and conditions and safeguards.   
 
 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

Board of Adjustment 

Staff Report – Board of Adjustment Public Hearing – 11-14-2023 

 

26



 pg. 2                             Town of Melbourne Beach –Board of Adjustment Special Exception 315 Ocean Avenue 

3. STAFF ANALYSIS.   
Following is staff analysis of the subject application in relationship to the Comprehensive Plan and 
Land Development Regulations.  
 
Comprehensive Plan.  The Future Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan includes the 
following language relevant to the Downtown Business District and commercial development: 
 

Goal: Permit commercial development and/or redevelopment in areas identified as 
commercial on the Town of Melbourne Beach Future Land Use Map 
 

The proposed restaurant is within the boundaries of the Downtown Business 
Future Land Use Designation. 

 
Objective 12.0: Improve the aesthetics of the major commercial area within the Town. 
 

The proposed restaurant will activate an existing vacant storefront. 
 
Analysis:  Based on the above, this application is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
Section 1A-3. Definitions, of the Land Development Regulations defines Restaurant as follows: 
 
“(1)   A restaurant includes any building, vehicle, place, or structure, or any room or division in a 
building, vehicle, place, or structure where food is prepared, served, or sold, all for money or other 
consideration, for immediate consumption on or in the vicinity of the premises; called for or taken 
out by customers; or prepared prior to being delivered to another location for consumption. 
(2)   A restaurant is an establishment where food and drink, which may include alcohol, are 
prepared, served, or consumed by customers in return for money. If alcohol is served, unless a 
special exception for a bar/lounge is approved by the Town on the restaurant premises, at least 
51% of the total gross revenues must come from the retail sale on the premises of food and non-
alcoholic beverages. Proceeds of catering sales will not be included in the calculation of total gross 
revenues.” 
 

Analysis:  the application proposes the preparation and sale of food and non-alcoholic 
beverages within an existing structure, and as such is consistent with the definition of 
restaurant. 

 
Section7A-36(d)(4) allows restaurants subject to the following conditions: 
 
a.   At least 51% of the total gross revenues must come on a bi-monthly basis from the retail sale 
on the premises of food and non-alcoholic beverages. Proceeds of catering sales are not to be 
included in the calculation of the total gross revenues. "Catering sales" include food or non-
alcoholic beverage sales prepared by the restaurant owner/operator on the premises for service 
by the owner/operator outside the restaurant premises. 

b.   For restaurants that serve any alcoholic beverages, the restaurant owner/operator is required 
upon request by the Town Manager, a Town code enforcement officer, or any Town law 
enforcement officer to "open the restaurant's records" to substantiate that 51% or more of the 
total gross revenues reported on a bi-monthly basis is derived from the sale of food and non-

27



 pg. 3                             Town of Melbourne Beach –Board of Adjustment Special Exception 315 Ocean Avenue 

alcoholic beverages, exclusive of revenues derived from catering. The restaurant owner/operator 
has the burden of proof of compliance with the requirements that 51% or more of the total gross 
revenues reported on a bi-monthly basis is derived from the sale of food and non-alcoholic 
beverages, exclusive of revenues derived from catering. Failure to substantiate or prove 
compliance with this requirement results in the rebuttable presumption that the restaurant is in 
actuality a bar or lounge. 

Analysis:  the application proposes no sale of alcoholic beverages and as such is consistent 
with this code section. 

 
Section 7A-36(d)(4).  This section of the Code is specific to 6-B, Downtown Business District and 
includes the following provisions: 

 

• Prohibited uses including drive-in, drive-up, drive through service. 
o None proposed 

• Minimum lot and building requirements: 
o Minimum lot area required: 9,000 SF 

▪ Provided: 9,000 SF 
o Minimum lot width required: 60’ 

▪ Provided: 60’ 
o Minimum lot depth: 150’ 

▪ Provided: 150’ 
o Maximum lot coverage: 50% (maximum amount to be covered by the principal 

structures) 
▪ Provided: 1,925 SF (per the Property Appraiser) or 21% 

o Maximum height: 35’ 
▪ Provided: approximately 12’ – 14’ to top of parapet 

o Front setback 25’ 
▪ Provided: 25’. 

o Side interior lot setback. None, provided a public access is available to the rear of 
the lot for trash removal and fire protection 

▪ Provided: 9.9’ and 15.2’ per the survey. 
o Rear setback 25’ when abutting a residential area  

▪ Provided: 56.8’ to the open porch and 69.8’ to the building. 
 

Analysis:  Based on the above, this application complies with the requirements of Section 
7A-36(d)(4). 

 
Section 7A-152(c)(2)b.  This Section allows for the following: “Applications that propose a change 
of use in an existing building to a special exception use where architectural changes are not 
required or planned shall not be subject to architectural requirements with the exception of paint 
color. The building and site shall be retrofitted to meet other special exception criteria to the 
extent determined by the Board of Adjustment. Landscaping of any existing open space areas and 
compliance with the signage and lighting requirements shall be required.” 
 

Analysis:  As an existing building per Section 7A-152(c)(2)b above, this applicable is subject 
to compliance with exterior paint color, landscaping of existing open space area, signage 
and site lighting requirements. 

28



 pg. 4                             Town of Melbourne Beach –Board of Adjustment Special Exception 315 Ocean Avenue 

 
Section 7A-152(c)(5).  This section states that “No special exception shall be effective unless it 
conforms to a site plan in compliance with the requirements of § 7A-51, which site plan is 
approved by the Town Commission. All development shall comply with the site plans considered 
by the Board of Adjustment, unless the site plan is otherwise modified and approved by the 
Planning and Zoning Board and/or the Town Commission.”   
 
Section 7A-51(b).  This section requires site plan approval for any of the following: 

• New Construction 

• Construction that will increase the height of an existing building. 

• Construction or alterations that will expand the exterior of an existing building creating the 
need for additional parking. 

• Construction or alteration that occurs with a change in the usage (activity) of an existing 
building. 

• Churches, museum, places of worship, temples, libraries or schools. 

• For all development related to a special exception use, the special exception use shall not be 
considered approved until a site plan meeting all criteria of the Land Development Code has 
been reviewed by Town staff and the Planning and Zoning Board and approved by the Town 
Commission. 

 
Analysis:  As noted above the proposed special exception proposes minimal construction 
including interior renovations and proposes no changes to the site or exterior of the 
building.  As such this activity does not constitute new construction, construction that 
increases the building height, expansion creating new parking demand, or churches, 
museum, etc.   
 
In addition, regarding the last standard which includes “all development related to a 
special exception”, Section 1A-3. Definitions, of the Land Development Regulations 
includes the following exemption from the definition of “development”, “(2) The following 
operations or uses shall not be taken for the purpose of this chapter to involve 
“development” as defined in this section: (f) A change in the use of land or structure from 
a use within a class specified in an ordinance or rule to another use in the same class.” 
 
Inasmuch as the proposed special exception use is a restaurant and the prior special 
exception use was a restaurant, this request would constitute a change to another use in 
the same class, and a site plan is not required. 

 
Section 7A-152(3) Review criteria states that before any special exception shall be issued, the 
Board of Adjustment shall make written findings certifying compliance with the specific rules 
governing individual special exceptions, and that the grant of the special exception as depicted 
on the development plans meets or exceeds the following standards (language for each standard 
is paraphrased for purposes of this report): 
 

• Architectural style.  Building design and construction including but not limited to: exterior 
building materials specifications, shall conform to the Bungalow, Frame Vernacular, 
1800’s Tidewater Style, Key West or Gothic Revival architecture. 

 

29



 pg. 5                             Town of Melbourne Beach –Board of Adjustment Special Exception 315 Ocean Avenue 

Analysis:  As an existing structure with no proposed changes, this does not apply. 
 

• Compatibility.  The special exception is compatible with adjacent and nearby uses. 
 

Analysis:  As an existing structure with no proposed changes, this does not apply. 
 

• Building orientation.  Buildings shall be oriented so as to enhance the appearance of the 
streetscape 

 
Analysis:  As an existing structure with no proposed changes, this does not apply. 

 

• Exterior materials and colors.  In order to protect an image of high quality Town 
aesthetics, exterior building materials and color shall conform with the following criteria: 
durable, high quality appearance; acceptable exterior facing materials; exterior colors 
shall be historically consistent colors used along Ocean Avenue, dominated by pastels and 
shades of white; building materials shall be consistent around the entire building. 

 
Analysis:  As noted in Section 7A-152(c)(2)b and the subject code section, although 
review of building materials would not be applicable since this is an existing 
structure compliance with paint color requirements does apply and the exterior 
colors shall be historically consistent colors used along Ocean Avenue, dominated 
by pastels and shades of white. 

 

• Roof design. 
 

Analysis:  As an existing structure with no proposed changes, this does not apply. 
 

• Refuse areas shall be located in a manner that minimizes impacts on adjacent residential 
areas, and shall be screened from adjacent properties and rights-of-way by an enclosure 
that is constructed of durable building materials. 

 
Analysis:  No refuse area is shown on survey of existing improvements, so any 
necessary refuse container must comply with this standard. 

 

• Mechanical equipment shall be located in a manner that minimizes impacts on adjacent 
residential properties, and equipment mounted on the roof shall be screened from view. 

 
Analysis:  The narrative indicates that the AC system will be replaced, and the 
property survey shows the AC unit adjacent to the existing building on the south 
side.  Any modifications to the AC system location must comply with this standard. 

 

• Lighting.  Outdoor lighting must be shielded from adjacent residential properties and 
rights-of-way. 

 
Analysis:  As noted in Section 7A-152(c)(2)b and the subject code section, any 
changes to exterior lighting must comply with this standard. 

 

30



 pg. 6                             Town of Melbourne Beach –Board of Adjustment Special Exception 315 Ocean Avenue 

• Landscaping and trees, are subject to the specific requirements in the landscape code. 
 

Analysis:  As an existing site with no proposed changes, this does not apply. 
 

• Signs.  Signs are subject to specific requirements for special exceptions in 7A-52. 
 

Analysis:  As noted in Section 7A-152(c)(2)b and the subject code section, this 
Special Exception must comply with signage requirements for any changes.  This 
application proposes to keep the existing sign and change it to reflect the 
proposed use.  Any other changes to the sign must comply with 7A-52(g) for 
special exception uses.  

 

• Walls and fences are subject to the requirements of Section 7A-53 of the land 
development code. 

 
Analysis:  If the subject site does not have sufficient wall/fence to provide 
buffering to the adjacent residential, compliance will be required. 

 

• Comprehensive Plan. 
 

Analysis:  As noted above, this application complies with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Section 7A-152(6) Conditions and Safeguard specifies that in granting any special exception, the 
Board of Adjustment may prescribed appropriate conditions and safeguards in conformity with 
this Land Development code.  In this regard, this analysis recommends the following conditions: 
 

4. RECOMMENDATION.   
Based on the above analysis, this report recommends approval of the Special Exception use as 
proposed with the conditions at the time of building permit the project will be required to comply 
with the following standards: 
 

• Exterior building color must comply with 7A-152(c)(2)b. 

• Screening of all refuse service/storage areas in accordance with 7A-152(3). 

• Any changes to outdoor lighting are fully compliant with 7A-152(c)(2)b and 7A-152(3) for 
the new construction. 

• Any changes to the project signage must comply with 7A-52(g). 

• If sufficient wall/fence is not provided, compliance with Section 7A-53 is required. 
 
 

 

31



 Town of Melbourne Beach –Board of Adjustment Special Exception 315 Ocean Avenue 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

Final Orders 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

Board of Adjustment 

 

32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



Town of Melbourne Beach – Board of Adjustment Special Exception 315 Ocean Avenue 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

Application Documents 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

Board of Adjustment 

 

40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56


	Agenda Packet Cover Page.pdf (p.1)
	231114 BOA Agenda.pdf (p.2-3)
	230216 BOA Draft Minutes.pdf (p.4-6)
	Special Exception Application - 315 Ocean Ave.pdf (p.7-25)
	Staff Report-315 Ocean Ave.pdf (p.26-56)

